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The major research for this report was begun in 1972 by Richard Barnett,
D.D., a volunteer, and continued by Daniel Erunetto and, most particularly, by
Paul Harx, both of the City's Urban Corps Prosran. The first draft of the report
was written by Paul Marx and the final text was preparsd by Deborah S. Gardner in
1973, under the direction of Ellen ¥, Xramer, Deputy Director of Research, and of
Alan Burnhanm, Director of Research. The report was supervised by Rarmon H, Gold-

stone, Chairman of the Commission, in consultation with Frank 3. Gilbert, Executive

Director. The District was photographed in 1968 by John B. Bayley, then a staff

memter. The manuscript was typed by Anne Gewirtz and *litzi Gevatoff, of our secre-

tarial staff, and the report was assembled under their direction. The map was
prepared by Harry Rock, of the City's Urban Corps Program.

As background for the report, much material was furnished to the Commission
by Michael S. Gruen, Vice-President of the Yest 105th Street Area Associfatioen,
Inc., for which the research was done by ¥in Spurseon, Jean Loretto, lyldon King
and Stephen Garmey, incorporating the valuable reminiscences of YMatson €. Terry.

Though many individuals have been associated with different phases of this

report, final responsibility for the facts and opinions expressed rests with the
Commission as a whole,
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RIVERSIDE-WEST 105TH STREET HISTORIC DISTRICT, Borough of Manhattan.

INTRODUCTION

The Riverside-West 105th Street Historie District is an Le-sheped area ex-
tending along cne block of West 105th Street, Riverside Drive and s part of the
gouth side of West 106th Street, comprising 30 buildings on a block and a half.

BOUNDARIES

The District comprises the property bounded by the southern property lines of

© 302 through 320 West 105th Street, the western property line of 320 West 105th

Street, West 105th Street, Riverside Drive, West 106th Street, the eastern proper-
ty lines of 322 West 106th Street and of 336, 335 and 33% Riverside Drive, the
northern property lines of 321 through 301 West 105th Street, the eastern property
line of 301 West 10S5th Street, West 105th Street and the eastern property line of
302 West 105th Street.

TESTIMONY AT TME PUBLIC HEARINGS

On July 21, 1970 the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hesring
on an area which included this area which is now proposed as an Historic District
{Item No. 4). The hearing had been duly mdvertised in asccordance with the pro-
visions of law. Seven persons spoke in favor of the proposed designation and two
individuals opposed it. The witnesses favoring designation clearly indicated
that there is great support for this Histeric District from the property owners
and resldents of the Historie District,

At the time of the 1970 public hearing the DBloomingdale Histeric District
was the neme used to describe the Historic District. Since the public hearing,
leaders in the neighborhood have requested that the Bloomingdale name not be used
for this Historic Distriect, Several names were suggested, as slternatives, by
individuals in the community. The Commission revieved all the names suggested
and, after careful consideration, decided upon Riverside-West 105th Street His-
toric District as the most appropriate.

On July 12, 1966 (Ttem No. 26), the Landmarks Preservation Commission hed
held a public hearing on & proposed Historic Distriet in the Riverside-West 105th

'‘Street nelghborhood. The Commissior was not able to act upon all the proposed

Historic Districts heard during its Tirst series of public hearings in 1965 and
1966, and so several proposals, including the subject of this report, were heard
in 1970 including this yroposed Historic Distriet, involving neighborhoods where
there continues to be great interest in preserving the fine buildings of the
community .
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HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The Riverside - West 105th Street Historic District lies within the English
petent granted by Governor Nicolls in 1667-68 to City Alderman Isasc Bedlow.
Until its urbenization et the end of the 19th century, the Upper West Side of
Manhstten was referred to as "Eloomingdale." The name derives from the Dutch
gettlers who called the area Bloemendnel in fond recellection of a flower-growing
orea in Hollend. By the 18th century, Bloomingdsle Roed, following the course of
epn old Indian treil, provided the main link between the City in lower Manhattan
with the ferrland of the Upper West Sidec, grafueslly encouraging the growth of
sncll clusters of villages along its course and the establishment of country seats
in the sdjoining zreas by wealthy New York families.

Two such country seats were located near the Historile District. One of them,
- built before 1752, was known successively by three different nemes: the Humphrey
Jones Homestead, the Anp Rogers House end the Abbey Hotel. It was a large stone
house located between the prescnt 101st end 102nd Streets, wesat of the present West
Epd Avenue. The house remnined a privete residence until 1844 when it was con-
verted into a hotel. It wes struck by lightning in 1857 and demolished.

The second estate, known as "Woodlawm,™ belonged to Humphrey Jones' son,
Vicholss, who had acquired it in 1764 from Charles Ward Apthorp. Situated be-
tween 106th and 10Tth Streets neer Riverside Drive, it was the eite of a skirmish
during the Revolutionary War Bettle of Harlem Heights. A detachment of Americans
drove & Britieh force southward from 125th Street into the neighborhood of 105th
Street, where the battle continued near the Woodlawn manaion. Fighting epded with
the appearance of oore British end Hesaien troops. ,

In 1816, Woodlavm wes conveyed by Williesm Rogers and his wife. Ann to Sarch,
her doughter by her previous marrisge to Nicholas Cruger, a friend of George
Washingten. Sareb married Williem Heyward, & member of a prominent Charleston,
South Carelino, family. In her generally caustic book, Domestic Manners of the
Apericens {1832), Mrs. Trollope described Woodlevn as the loveliest wansion in the
beantiful village of Bloomingdsle. After William Heyward's desth, Sarah scld the
estate in 1BLT to the famous pill momufecturer, William B. Moffat, who leased
Woodlawn in the late 18508 for use es 2 hotel. Moffet died in 1862 and wunder the
termis of his will the estate was divided into lots in 1864 and sold. Myre Moffat,
one of his daughters, lived at He. 321 West 105th Street until at least 1910, The
Woodlawn pouse served briefly as the home of the Hew York Infant Asylum and
survived until 1897.

The Bloomingdale aves itself retained mmch of its rural nature until late
ip the 19th century. Eventunl development as an integral part of the City,
however, was cssured by the Commissioners' Plan of 1811, which inmposed the uniform
gridiron plan of broad avenues and narrow creoss streets cf lowver Manhatten upon
the gently rolling hills of upper Marhatten. In the first haelf of the century,
several large institutions established themselves on the Upper West Side, attroc-
ted by the ready availebility of land. The Asylum for the Insane moved in 1821 to
the area now occupied by Columbina University, ond wes known thereafter as the
Bloomingdale Insane Asylum. The Leake ond Watts Orphanage moved in 1843 to & site
gbove 110th Street between Amsterdan end Columbus Avenues. By the 18508, a pumber
of hotels had appeared, cetering to Manhattenites desirous of escering the heat
and crowds:of the City during the summer menths. By the next decade, the increase
in the permanent popmlation was reflected by the construction of Ward School No.
54 nt 10Uth Street and Ansterdam Avenue, to serve the femilies who lived in the
scattered frame houses and on the farms in the erea. This followed by only
fifteen years the earlisr public scheol built st 82nd Street and Eleventh Avenue,

By the end of the Civil War, it was apparent thet the Bloomingdale erea would
gsoon be engulfed by the rapidly expanding City. Thus, it was prepesed to modify
the gridiron plen of. 1811 for the protection and preservetion of the Hudson River
shore. The idea origineted in a small peaphiet of 1865 by William R. Maortin.
Andrew H, Green, President of the Boord of Commissioners of Centrel Perk, sub-
mitted 2 plan to convert the undevelcped Riverslde belt of precipice into B
landscaped ornemental park for the West Side from 55th Street to 155th Street.

The plan, spproved by the Boerd of Commigsioners of Central Park under the Act
of April 2L, 1867, provided. for such inprovements as Riverside Park and Drive,
Fort Washington Park, Morningside Park end new streets and avenues that couformed
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to the natural contours of the land. One of the resulta was the replacement 4in
1868-71 of Bloomingdale Roat by e wide avenue, with central gressy mells frouw
59th to 155th Btreets. The new avenue was celled the ''Boulevard” in the aree
of the Historic District end the "Public Drive® to the north. In 1899, the
Boulevard and Public Drive were recamed "Brcadwey.”

In accordance with Green's plan, the City hed obtained possession of the
lands for Riverside Park by 1872, cnd in the fcllowing year Frederick Lew Olmsted,
the great planner and landscape architect of Central Park, completed a map for
the park, The pari end drive were not officielly completed until 1898, although
a smeller section between T2nd Street cnd T9th Street was opened in 1891,

The residential development of the old Bloomingdale district proceeded
slowly. Its pace was influenced by the opening of rapid transit links and by
successive wavee of lend speculation end depressicn. Transportaticn was first
provided by the Hudson River Railrcad, en route from New York to Albeny, which
opened several locel stations in the Blocmingdale seetion, In 1878, the Ninth
Avenue El was extended to 155th Street, and the ceble traction cars fellowed
along Amaterdem Avenue in 1885, Finally, £n 1893, New Yorkers approved the
extension of the proposed Breadway subway with a staticn at 103rd Street. -

Historically, the development of the City's fashionghle resgidentisl digtricts
had been on the East Side. Speculative builders continued this trend by buying
lots in Yorkville and even in Harlem before turning to the West Side. The de-
velopment of the Uoper Vest Side then bacame a vietim of over optimism. In an-
ticipation of all the public improvements proposed for the area, real estate
prices were driver sherply upwerd, clesing out most small investors. It was not
until the early 1880s that speculation on the Upper Ezat Side end Harlem finally
drove prices higher than those cn the West Side.

Development begen at the scuth end, between T2nd and 96th Streeta. A
ploneer was General Egbert L. Viele, who built the first modern residence at the
corner of Riverside Drive and B8th Street in the early 1880s., General Viele,
the first chief engineer for Central Park, was influentiel in publicizing the
deairability of the area at a very eerly date. Hig Tovography and Hydrclogy of
Hew York (1865) identified the heelthy and unhealthy sections of the City and
proved of great value to builders and developers. His map is still used by
architects and engineers in their preliminary investigation of sub-surface con-
ditions and their effect on the design of building foundations. Gemeral Viele
a2id much toward clearing the area of squatters ang securing legislation to grade
the streets and provide other munieipal improvements. .

In iugust 1890, the ey York Harsld ran a gserias ~f elitnrials ~A6 articles
extoulling the acenities of the Upper West Side -nl espeoliellr,.af the Riveraile
Drive area. As & result, the upper niddle class began for the first pimelto
toke the erea sericusly. The Herald focused sttentice on the propossia ol
Peter B, Sweeney, Cheirmen of the Department of Perks, for the crestice of a
"splendid public pléasure ground for lovers of the horse and the horse himself"
on an embenkment of the Hudson River between T2n? Street and 98th Street. The
newspaper alsc portrayed the Upper West Side as an extremely Jdesireble resi-
dentinl area:

The aistrict to the east of Riverside Park as for as Central .
Park is likely, or rather, sure to become within the pext
{twenty years, perheps the locaticn of the most beeutitul
residences in the'wprld. The edvantages of pure air and
beaatiful surrounéings, glimpses of the New Jersey Hills at
the end of ecach street, with the glitter of the Hudson
between; the nearness of the porks and the accessibility of
the distriet will be inswmounteble factors in populmrity.
Az the time =»f squere brick and brown stone houses has gone
by, so aolas has the time whet New York cen afford to neglect
her approach cnd her outward sppearances.
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There were other proposals for besutifying the park. One called for the
creation of a Robert Fulton Memoriel in the neighborhood of 110th Street. Com-
plete with classicel arcadss, terraces an? e grand staircase bridging the preci-
pice of the park with the river belew, it would serve es the great welcoming
stege for arriving dignitaries, It was als> hoped thet the proposed World's
Colunbilan Exposition would choose New York for the fair and Riverside Park for
the fair site. Although the fair opened in Chicage ir 1893, the spirit of public

“improvement in New York continued, as evidenced by the numerous memorials thet

st1ll adorn Riverside Drive,

Two monumental building complexes begun in 1892--the new compus of Columbia
University orn the Blocmingdale Asylum site and $t. Jchn the Divine (Cathedral, on
the site of the Leake end Watts Orphan fsylum—-embodied the optimistic forecasts
regarding the future of the meighborhond. It seemed possible in the 1890s that
the new town houses being built along Riverside Prive would lure socialites away
from the East Side. The French Besux Arts style houses found in the Riverside -
West 105th Street Historie District bear witness tc this hope.

A number of the City's wealthy and affluent mifdle-class residents d4id respond -

to the attractiveness of this area. Although lacking the old family traditions
of Fifth fivenue, and cut off from enother affluent strip along Central Park West
by multiple dwellings on the intervening evenues and the Ninth Avenue E1, the
beauty of Riverside Drive and the quiet peaceful stmosphere of such side streets
as West 105th, attracted a stsble group of prominent rargons,

Ne. 310, for exarple, was purchased by Charles Appleton Terry, secretary and
chief petent attorney for Westinghouse Electric & Manufaeturing Company and later
& vice-president in the company. He Aied in 1939, and his son finally sold the
house in the mid-1940s, No. 311 wee ovmed by H. Herman Westinghouse, George
Westinghouse's step-brother and president of the Westinghouse Air Breke Company.
Merchants, professicnal men and industrialists and major manufecturers were anong
the initiel residents on 105th Street end Riverside Drive. Members of the Davis
family, of baking powder fame, bought Ho. 330 Riverside Drive in 1905 ood re-
meined there until the last heir died ip the 1950s.

Perhaps 1t wes due to such long occupancies thet the architecture in this
Historic District has lergely been preserved in its original state. Remedeling
has been minimel, eand with the passage of time new residents continue to be
dravn to this delightful area. Designation zs an Historie Distriet will conserve
its harmoniocus architectural charscter.
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ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

The magnificent river view and park that adjoins these turn-of-the.century
houses guggests the openness and scele of Paris. The jJuxtaposition of five-story
row houses and the towering apartment houses nearby offers the sharp contrast
vhich is so typicel of New Yerk.

The houses along 105th Street are all well-pressrved, of the same height and
set back an equal distance from the dbuilding line. Their entrances, of the
English basement type, are located at street level, Strong horizontal lines are
provided by the cornices, wrought iron balconiee and mansard roofs. Together,
these elements reinforce the visusl integrity of the fagades, while the bowed
fronts of the masonry bays create e gentle rhythm along the.street as it slopes
down to the terrace above the Drive. The houses on Riverside Drive and on 106th
Street though generally teller, are egqually jmposing.

The visuel barmeny of the strestscape, seen not only on 105th Street but on
Riverside Drive ag well, was not accidental, but the result of restrictive cove-
nants between the bullders and their clients, clearly specified in the deeds:

“. . . all parties are desirous of uniting for the purpose of restricting the
character of the improvements to be placed upon said loks . ., ., 80 that<the
budldings . . . shell be of suitable choracter and such as are a benefit to the
neighborhood. .

Four tuilding firms, all with offices on the Upper West Side, were asso-
clated with the development, between 1899 and 1902, of the town houses in the
Distriet: John C. Umberfield, Hemilton M. Weed, Joseph A. Farley and Stewart &
Smith. Umberfield's prospectus, "Description and Prices of Ten High-Cless Modern
Private Dwellings on West Ope-~-Hundred and Fifth Street between West End Avenue
and Riverside Drive", which offered Nos. 302-320 for ssle at prices ranging from
$42,500 to $50,000, provides an insight into turp-cf-the-century building prac-
tices. Umberfleld worked from designs provided by the erchitectural firm of
Janes & Leo for his houses on the south side of Weat 105th Street and from those
of William E. Mowbray, of Mowbray & Uffinger, for Nos. 309-321 on the north side.
Hamilton M. Weed, the builder-developer of Nos. 301-30T7 on the north side,.also
availed himself of the services of Janos & Leo, as did Joseph A, Foarley, vho
erected Nos. 330, 331 amd 333 Riverside Drive., Stewert & Smith, a firm vhich had
been extremely active in the development of the Upper West Side during the 1890s
having erected over one hundred houses between West End Avenue and Rlverside
Drive from 75th to 10Tth Streets, executed the designs of Hoppin & Koen at Hos.
334, 335 epd 336 Riverside Drive, and of the well-knowm architect Robert D. Kohn
at No. 337 Riverside Drive and the adjoining house &t No. 322 West 106th Street.

The architecture exhibits nn unugual degree of stylistic wnity, a reflection
of the ghort, three-year building span and of the desire to adhere %o the spirit
of the restrietive covenants. The houges are fine examples of the French Beaux
Arts style which was introduced in thip country by architects retwrning from thelr -
studies in Paris, or under the influence of men who had been to Paris. The new
mode superseded the rowe of simpler brownstones, erected by other builder-
developers from stock plans. The architect-degigned limestone row houses in the
District have a new individuslity, When, ms on 105th Street, two rows of such
houses were built, their rich apd varied ormament creates an inpressive blockfront.




RIVERSIDE DRIVE .. West 105th Street Historic Digtriet

WEST 105th STREET {Nos. 302-320 & 301-321) Betw. West End Ave. & Riverside Drive

SOUTH SIDE

All the houses on the south gide of 105th Street were erected in 1899-1900 and
were designed by the architectural firm of Janes & Teg. This firm hed previously
deslgned a number of houses and churches in New York City, including the Dorilten
Apartment House at Broadway and Tlst Street. Their town houges on 105th Street
were constructed by the builder-developer, Jobn C. Uberfield.

Although this row of stone houses was built in two groups, the same designs
vere repeated among them-with minor variation in detail--as was frequently the
rractice. Thus, on this block, Nos. 302, 30bL, 318 and 320 ere similar; Nos. 306,
308, 314 and 316 are similar; and Nos. 310 and 312 are similar. This repetition
of designs along the street creates & sense of order and rhythm for the whole
blockfront.

The designs of the houses draw on meny stylistic sources for their details.
Tke curved, projecting bays, extremely popular at this period and graced with
elaborate cervings. are reminiscent of the Barogue style, while the gently
rounded windows in the second and third stories recall the Renaissance architec-
ture of France. In addition, there are numercus varistions on the pilaster,
pediment, and console bracket themes. This rich mixture of stylistic elements is
characteristic of turn-of-the century French Beaux Arts design and was used on
this block in a balanced and refined manner.

Nos. 302, 30k, 318, 320. These four buildings are similar and ere paired
symmetrically at the ends of this row. The simple doorways are complemented by
arched windows decorated with carved shields and flanked above by elaborate console
brackets supporting small balconies with iron reilings at the second floor. Small
railings also appear at the third floor windows. The second and third story win-
dows are set in projecting bays at Hes. 302 and 320, and in bowed fronts at Nos.
304 and 318. The bays, flanked by modified Jonic pilasters, are decorated by
elaborate garlands. Metal dentiled cornices surmount the tops of the bays just
beneath the fourth floor windows, which are set in the plane of the wall,

Nos. 306, 308, 31k and 316. In this group the first floor is rather simple,
with the ornament restricted to slender Jomic pilasters flanking the front door
over which there ig a cartouche, The first floor projection is surmounted by a
valcony with an ironm reiling, which is get in front of a wide second floor window.
The third floor has handsome corbeled oriels vhich are again crowned with iron
railings. The corbels beneath the oriels are decorsted with scallops, swags and
console brackets. '

Nos. 310 and 312. 1In this pair of central houses the bowed fronts rise up
through the first three floors and extend the entire width of the house. The
curve of the bow fronts is repesated in the gecond floor railings vhich are partly
supported on large exuberant cartouches centered over the front doors. The second

. an@ third floors, framed by wide shallov pilasters conveying an effect of re-

strained monumentality, are decorated with garlands and distinctive console key-
stones. Above the fourth floor, which is set flugh with the wall plane of the
adjoining buildings, the arched dormers are elaborately framed by corbeled,
"broken-arch” pediments.

FORTH SIDE

Nos. 301-307.  These four houses were also designed by Japes & Leo. Hamilton
W. Yeed, builder-developer, ereeted the vrow in 1899-1900. Above asshlar basements,
the houses are constructed of dark red brick, laid in Flemish bond, with lime-
stone trim. The first house, Ho. 301, has & projecting bay rising the height of
the building. Stone ornament is restricted to the second and third floor shere
it enframes the iriple windows. There are two small balconies with iron railings
on the second and fourth floors.
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The next two houses, Nos. 303 and 305, display simllar ornate facades. At
ground level, the central entrances are flanked by Dorie columnps. Some second
story windows ere richly adorned by pediments behind balustrades ebove the English
basements. A bracketed metal cornice separates the fourth £loor from the unadorned
attic story. No. 307 is differentiated from the other three houses by having a
boz:d front and & projecting columnar poreh at the entry. Its facade is framed by
auoins.

Ros, 309-321. This, the last row of residences to have been built on 105th -
Street, was constructed by builder-developer John C. Umberfield in 1900-01. These
geven limestone houses were designed by William E., Mowbrey, of the firm Mowbray &
Uffinger. Mowbray had to meet a difficult challenge, as his designs had to sccord
with the existing bujldings at the east end of the block, and with the houses
across the street. He employed much the same architectural vocsbulary as did
Janes & Leo on the other side of the street, but Mowbray's facades are character-
1zed by a more horizontsl accent. The consistent use of heavy cornicez with Liat
roofs--ag opposed to the mansards on the south side--emphasizes this quality.

Mowbray's houses are taller than their brick neighbors and, like the houses
oo the south side of the street, play variations on an essentially similer design,
They all have English basements swrmounted by shallew decks with iron or stone
railings. From btuilding to building, three-gtory bowed fromts alternate with
three~story polygonal bays where meny of the windows display lerge keystones, The
Tifth floors are flush with the wall plane and crowned by sheetmetal brecketed roof
cornices ,subsequently removed from Hog. 317 and 321, HNos. 309, 313, 317 and 321
have three-sided bays with rusticated basements. Ionic pilasters are e dominant
motif in these buildings and are used in miniature form to support the "broken-
arch” pediments over the second floor windows, snd to enframe the second and third
floors of the bays. Nos. 311, 315 and 319 have bowed fronts. The second stories
are composed of large stone blocks, similar to the queins which frame the facede.
At Nos. 311 and 319, Ionic pllasters separate the door and window openings in the
basement .,

The mansion at the western end of the street is describved umder No. 330
Riverside Drive.

RIVERSIDE DRIVE {X¥os. 330-337) Between 105th & 106th Streets

In harmonious contrast to the row houses on West 105th Street stands Ne. 330
Riverside Drive at the corner of 105th Street, recelling a great Parisian mansion.
Its magnificent site looks out over Riverside Drive to the Hudson River and the
Palisades. Designed in the Beaux Arts manner by Janes & Leo, it was constructed
in 1901-1902 by the building firm of Jogeph A. Farley. After serving as & private
residence for many years, it is now owned by the Brothers of the Christian 8chools.

While it dhares many of the design elements of the row houses on 105th Street,
it does not merely reflect their facades. Decoration is restricted here to the
enhancement of the openings, while large surfaces are left unadorned. Set on a
basement of rusticated limestone, the upper floore ere composed of buff-colored
brick and are trimmed with beautifully finished end carved limestone. The richly
ornamented recessed doorway, located in a central section of the main facade
facing 105th Street, is surmounted by large console brackets supporting a stately
baleony. Three tiers of triple windows in this central section are doubly enframeé
by smooth limestone piers and by quoins, and crowned at the top by am arch with a
large cartouche. Above this arch, there is a balustrede capped in turn by &
pyramidal roof with crestings. To the east of this impressive central section is
a four-bay facade, each level distinguished by a particular ornamental element.
At the basement level, the windows are covered with grilles; at the second floor,
delicate metal baleonies ornament the windows. At the third level, a btalustrade
is supported on paired console brackets and the windows have "broken-arch" pedi-
ments. A mengsard roof with arched dormers and simple cresting appears above the
dentiled roof cornice.

This selective use of ornament underscores the care teken in every aspect of
the design of & bullding such as this to create a c¢oherent and dignified vhole.
At the east end of the facade, ascting as a transition between the row houses and
the mansion, there is a single story glazed conservatory, set above the basement
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and ecrowmed by a “broken-arch" pediment. The single bay to the west of the entrance
displays many of the same design elements as the area to the east, and the facade
facing Riverside Drive also repeats the same motifs. It dlffers only in the second
floor windows which have colored glass panels,

Adjoining the corner mansion is No. 331 Riverside Drive now occupied by the
American Buddhist Acedemy. This elegant brick end limestone house was designed by
Janes & Leo as one of a group of three practically fdentical houses, of which two
remain (Nos. 331 and 333). They were all built by Joseph A. Farley im 1901-02. 1In
the rusticated first floor of No. 331, there is a garlanded entrance flanked by a
windov with grille and a service door. At the parlor floor three French windows
crovned by "broken-arch"- pediments have arched transom bars. A heavy cornice sup-
ported on interestingly carved corbels separates the third and fourth flocors. The
original town house &t FNo. 332 Riverside Drive has been demclished and wes repleced
in 1963 by & Buddhist Church, In front of the Church there is a large bronze
statue of Shinran Shonin, the thirteenth century founder of the Jodo-S8hinsu sect.
No. 333 is basicelly identical to No. 331, but still retains its decorative wrought

iron railings at both the fifth floor and roof.

Next comes & group of three different town houses, Nos. 33L4, 335 and 336, bullt
between 1901-02 by P. M. Stevard & H. J. Smith. The architects were Hoppin & Koen,
who were also responsible for the old Police Headquarters on Vesey Street, many
private houses, and a charming Renslspance style firehouse on West L3rd Street in

Manhattan.

No. 334 hes a masonry basement with s central entrance. There, a rounded arch
is flanked by fluted three-guarter engaged columns. On the brick parlor floor,
the windows are similar to those of Fo. 333, while the third floor windows are.
more deeply recessed than at the other buildings. The central third floor window
has triple lights, sccented by s handsome iron balecony, unusual carvings and stone
enfrapement. A dormer window extends the width of the building at the fifth
floor. No. 335 is a narrov house which, with contrasting red brlek and white stone
quoins and trim above a stone basement, recalls English Georgian town houses. It

has a (continued on next page)
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small claseical porch with fluted Ionic ecolumns which support a delecomy. The
neo-Palladian window on the parlor floor has Ionic columna and pilasters apd a
scallop-shell arech surmounting its cornice. Two heavy garlands are set on the
wall just above the third floor windows. The sixth floor still bas its original
lead-covered dormers although the cornice below them has been removed. No. 336 1s
8 very formal limestone bulldirng preceded by an unusual entrance stoop composed

of consele bracket scrolls set on blocks. Above the door, there is a stone balus-
trade which contrasts with the ironm raillings on the neighboring buildings. The
vindows at the second, third and fourth floore have simple frames. Four pairs of
ornate, heavy brackets support a cornice hetween the third and fourth floors, an
arrangement alsc seen in its neighbors. The fifth floor roof has heen brought
forverd to provide a contimioue bend of windows across the fromt. The house pro-
vides a dignified transition to the magnificent corner "River Mansion", described
under West 106th Street.

WEST 106TH STREET Between Riverside Drive & West End Avenue

SOUTH SIDE

River Mansion (Fo. 337 Riverside Drive}, and the house sdjoining it st
322 West 106th Street, were designed by the well-known architect Robert D. Kohn.
Ho. 337 was built in 1500-1902 by Stewart & Smith.” Mr, Kohn, trained at the
School of Architecture of Columbia University and the Ecole des Beaux Arts in
Paris, was the architect for the 0ld Evening Post Building on Vesey Street (1506)
and the Soeiety for Ethical Culture Building on Central Park West {1910). Wnile
Beaux Arts in charecter, many of his buildings deviated from classical traditions
and displayed indications of the merging Eurcpean Art Nouvesu style in their
free-floving design of ornamental elementz., The Evening FPost Building was desig-
nated a New York City Landmark in 1965 and cited as "one of the few outetanding
Art Houveau buildings ever congtructed In this country.”

How used as the John Mace Music School, River Mansion --the name Is in-
seribed over the entrance--is constructed of dark red Flemish bond brickwerk with
limestone trim. The mansion consists of three bays on Riverside Drive and has
three widely spaced bays on West 106th Street .where the central entrance is
flanked by elaborately carved, banded columns inspired by late 16th century
French architecture. The entrance porch is surmounted by & high window with a
cornice carried on console breckets erowned by two small lions® heads. As at
Mo. 330 Riverside Drive, ornament is confined to limited areas, A strong hori-
zontal bandcourse forms the top of the stone English basement which is thus set
off as g podiun. In the tvo outer bays, tall arched limestone fremes rise from
the podium and enclose the second and third floor windows. These give a verti-
eslity to the facade which suggests a kinship with the 18908 Art Nouveau buildings
of Brussels. There are simple metal-gheathed dormers in the roof. The originel,
tall, spiked iron fence still surrcunds the property on both 106th Street and
Riverside Drive, vhere the elevation is similar to the main facede,

The nelghhoring house, No. 322 West 106th Street, slso by Kohn, is a com-~
panien to the River Maneion and of buff-colored brick., It was built in 1900-

. 1902, The entrance is in the west bey and 1s surrounded by heavy rusticated
blocks and ornate carving. The parlor floor boests two French windows, elabor-
ately framed in limestone. The roof dormers are given prominence by pedliments
set on pilasters. In scale and detall, the house handsomely complements its

nelghbor .
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Just outside the Historie District, the equestrian statue of General Franz
Sigel (182h-1902}, the German-born Civil War commander, occuples a prominent
site. It is located at the head of a flight of stairs at 106th Street, at a
transitional point between the terrace of the Drive and Riverside Drive itself,
and offers a superb embellishment to the are. BErected in 1907, the life-size
gtatue is the work of the well-konown sculptor Carl Bitter, The pedestal was,

designed by V. Welles Bosworth.



FIDINGS AHD DESIGNATIONS

Oz the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the architecture
and other features of this area, the Landmarks Preservation Commission findse
that the Riverside - Hest 105th Street !liatoric district contains buildings and
other improvemeuts which have a special character and special historical and
aesthetic interest and value and whilch represent ome or nore perlods or styles
of architecture typlcal of one or more eras in the history of Yew York City and
which cause this area, by reason of these factors, to comstitute a distinct
section of the City. :

i The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, the
Riverside ~ West 105th ftreet Historic District ia an unusually distinguished,
turn-of-the-century residential area, that this Upper West Side district is

- beautifully situated near the Drive and the Fudson River, that it has a re-

freshing quality of opemness with its low, relatively uniform building heights,
that restrictive covenants, relatinz to all the town houses in the Historic
District, achleved a speclal character and homogenelity which reflecta a concern
on the part of the devalopers for neighborhood »lanmning, that all the houses
were erected vithin a period of a very few yeara, and thar they provide a fine
exanple of the influence of French Beaux Arts architecture.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 63 of the Charter of
the City of New York and Chapter $-A of the Administrative Code of the City of
Mew York, the Landmarks Preservation Commission designates as an Uistoric Dis-
trict the Riverside ~ Test 105th Street LEistoric District, Berough of Hanhattan,
containing the property bounded by the southern property limes of 302 through
320 Yest 105th Street, the western propercy line of 320 West 105th Street, West
105th Street, Riverside Drive, West 106th Street, the eastern property lines of
322 ¥est L06th Street and of 336, 335 and 334 Riverside Drive, the northern
propercy lines of 321 through 301 Vest L05th Street, the eastern property line
of 301 West 105th Street, West 105th Street and the eastern property line of
302 Yest 105th Street.





